



PERMANENT ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER

DOA 10-2025

CHAPTER 603

DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

FILED

05/12/2025 1:02 PM
ARCHIVES DIVISION
SECRETARY OF STATE
& LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL

FILING CAPTION: Amends Oregon Poultry Slaughter Exemption to include Rabbit

EFFECTIVE DATE: 05/12/2025

AGENCY APPROVED DATE: 05/12/2025

CONTACT: Sunny Summers

503-986-4565

rulemaking@oda.oregon.gov

635 Capitol St NE

Salem, OR 97301

Filed By:

Sunny Summers

Rules Coordinator

RULES:

603-028-0710, 603-028-0715, 603-028-0720, 603-028-0722, 603-028-0725, 603-028-0730, 603-028-0732, 603-028-0735, 603-028-0740

AMEND: 603-028-0710

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updating definitions

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0710

Definitions ¶¶

In addition to the definitions in ORS Chapter 616 and, OAR ~~603-025-0010~~ Chapter 603, Divisions 25 and 28, unless otherwise required by the context, the following terms will be construed, respectively, to mean:¶¶

(1) "Approved" means acceptable to the Department based on the determination of conformity with principles, practices, and generally recognized standards that protect public health.¶¶

(2) "Department" means the Oregon Department of Agriculture.¶¶

(3) "Domesticated" means born and raised in captivity so as to live and breed in a tame condition.¶¶

(4) "Off-Farm Direct Sale" means sold and delivered to the end-user of the rabbit or poultry product by the poultry producer ~~rabbit or poultry business from a location other than the rabbit or poultry establishment.~~¶¶

(5) "On-Farm Direct Sale" means sold and delivered to the end-user of the rabbit or poultry product at the poultry business.¶¶

(6) "Open date" means a date clearly visible to retail consumers showing the pull date or packing date ~~rabbit or poultry establishment.~~¶¶

(7) "Poultry," ~~for the purposes of this section,~~ means:¶¶

(a) Domesticated species of birds subject to mandatory or voluntary inspection by the Department or the United States Department of Agriculture that are commonly used as a food source; including: chickens, turkeys, ducks, geese, or guinea fowl, whether live or dead.¶¶

(b) Poultry does not include ratites, endangered or protected species, wild game birds, non-game wild birds, or pet birds, whether live or dead.¶¶

(8) "Poultry business" means the land and improvements within the contiguous property boundary where the slaughter of the poultry being sold has occurred ~~owner and employees of the establishment.~~¶¶

(98) "Poultry product" means a whole poultry carcass ~~or part thereof~~, which is processed for use as human food to the extent that feathers and offal are removed and may include the re-addition of the poultry's gizzards or giblets.¶

~~(10) "Slaughtering Facility" means an area where the~~ (9) "Rabbit" means a live or dead member of a species in the Leporidae family that is domesticated and subject to voluntary inspection by the Department or the United States Department of Agriculture that are commonly used as a food source.¶

(10) "Rabbit business" means the owner and employees of the establishment.¶

(11) "Rabbit product" means a whole rabbit carcass which is processed for use as human food to the extent that hide and offal are removed.¶

(12) "Slaughtering Facility" means the portion of the establishment where the rabbit or poultry slaughter, processing, or packaging takes place.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.020, 619.046, ~~(HB 2872 enrolled)~~ 603.038

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 603.085, 619.046

AMEND: 603-028-0715

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates licensing exemptions.

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0715

Intent-Licensing Exemptions ¶

~~(1) It is the intent of the Department's Food Safety Division to promote and enable the Oregon State Legislature's directive to encourage Oregon-grown poultry production for consumption in the state of Oregon by Oregonians. ¶~~

~~(2) Therefore, the Department promulgates two poultry slaughter exemptions. Poultry businesses may qualify for either both the Off-Farm Direct Sale Exemption and the On-Farm Direct Sale Exemption. A person claiming both under OAR 603-028-710 to OAR 603-028-0740. A poultry business claiming both the Poultry On-Farm and Off-Farm poultry exemptions within a calendar year shall not slaughter more than 1,000 poultry in that calendar year. A poultry ¶~~

~~(2) Rabbit business that may qualify for either exemption shall comply with OAR 603-028-0740. ¶~~

~~(3) A poultry business that sells poultry from the poultry business, at farmers' markets, or through other dthe Off-Farm Direct sSales involving off-farm delivery to customers should refer to Exemption or the Offn-Farm Direct Sale and sanitation requirements found in Exemption under OAR 603-028-0720 and 710 to OAR 603-028-0725. ¶~~

~~(4) A poultry business that sells poultry only from the poultry business should refer to the On-Farm Direct Sale Exemption and sanitation requirements found in OAR 603-028-0730 and 603-028-073540. A rabbit business claiming both the On-Farm and Off-Farm exemptions within a calendar year shall not slaughter more than 1,000 rabbits in that calendar year.~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.020, 561.190, 619.046, ~~(HB 2872 enrolled)~~ 603.038

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 561.020, ORS 603.085, 619.046

AMEND: 603-028-0720

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates requirements for Off-Farm Direct Sale Poultry Exemption

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0720

Off-Farm Direct Sale Poultry Exemption ¶

(1) A ~~person~~poultry business is not required to obtain a license under ORS 603.025 ~~or, ORS 616.706, and OAR 603-028-0100~~ for activities directly related to poultry, poultry products, and shell eggs, if:¶

(a) During a calendar year, the ~~person~~poultry business slaughters a total of 1,000 or fewer poultry of all poultry species combined; ~~and~~¶

(b) The ~~person~~poultry business performing the slaughter raised the poultry since the poultry was two weeks of age or younger; ~~and~~¶

(c) The poultry are free from disease; ~~and~~¶

(d) The poultry products are for use as human food; ~~and~~¶

(e) The ~~person~~poultry business maintains sanitary records under OAR 603-028-0740; ~~and~~¶

(f) The ~~person~~poultry business slaughters the poultry at ~~the person's slaughter facility~~an establishment meeting the sanitary requirements of OAR 603-028-0725 and does not allow other persons to use the ~~slaughter facility~~establishment; ~~and~~¶

(g) The poultry products are sold via off-farm direct sale or an on-farm direct sale.¶

(2) Poultry products may not be adulterated or misbranded in accordance with ORS 616.205 to 616.385.¶

(3) ~~Person~~poultry businesses claiming the exemption under this section may slaughter and process only their own poultry and sell the shell eggs of such poultry.¶

(a4) ~~Poultry must be sold as a whole carcass; and~~¶

(b) ~~Shell eggs will~~Shell eggs and poultry products must be labeled with the open date in accordance with ORS 616.800 to 616.835 ~~(Open Date Labeling).~~¶

(45) Poultry ~~and poultry~~ products may not enter into interstate commerce and ~~wi~~shall be labeled with legible typed lettering a minimum of 0.25 inches in height "THIS PRODUCT MAY NOT LEAVE THE STATE OF OREGON".¶

(56) ~~The licensing exemptions contained in this section apply only to activities directly related to poultry and poultry products.~~ Activities relating to food other than poultry ~~or poultry product~~products or shell eggs remain subject to licensing by the Department.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.190, 616

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 616.835, ~~(HB 2872 enrolled)~~603.038

ADOPT: 603-028-0722

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates requirements for Off-Farm Direct Sale Rabbit Exemption

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0722

Off-Farm Direct Sale Rabbit Exemption

(1) A rabbit business is not required to obtain a license for activities directly related to rabbit and rabbit products under ORS 603.025, 616.706, or 603-028-0100, if:

(a) During a calendar year, the rabbit business slaughters a total of 1,000 or fewer rabbits;

(b) The rabbit business performing the slaughter raised the rabbits since the rabbit was two weeks of age or younger;

(c) The rabbits are free from disease;

(d) The rabbit products are for use as human food;

(e) The rabbit business maintains sanitary records under OAR 603-028-0740;

(f) The rabbit business slaughters the rabbit at an establishment meeting the sanitary requirements of OAR 603-028-0725 and does not allow other persons to use the establishment; and

(g) The rabbit products are sold exclusively via off-farm direct sale or an on-farm direct sale.

(2) Rabbit products may not be adulterated or misbranded in accordance with ORS 616.205 to 616.385.

(3) Rabbit businesses claiming the exemption under this section must slaughter and process their own rabbit.

(4) Rabbit products must be labeled with:

(a) An open date in accordance with ORS 616.800 to 616.835; and

(b) Legible typed lettering a minimum of 0.25 inches in height "PROCESSED UNDER THE OREGON RABBIT EXEMPTION".

(5) Activities relating to food other than rabbit products remain subject to licensing by the Department.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 603.038

AMEND: 603-028-0725

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates sanitation standards.

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0725

Sanitation Standards II

~~A person poultry or rabbit business~~ claiming the exemption of OAR 603-028-0720 or OAR 603-028-0722 must slaughter the poultry ~~in slaughtering facilities and rabbits~~ and conduct activities in accordance with ORS 619.026 and OAR 603-028-0100 ~~in the premises of the person's~~ establishment of the rabbit or poultry business.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561, 616, 619

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 603.085, 619.046, ~~(HB 2872 enrolled)~~ 603.038

AMEND: 603-028-0730

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates On-Farm Direct Sale Exemption

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0730

On-Farm Direct Sale Exemption ¶¶

(1) A ~~person~~poultry business engaged in on-farm direct sale is not required to obtain a license under ORS 603.025 or, 616.706, and OAR 603-028-0100, for activities directly related to poultry products if:¶¶

(a) During a calendar year, the ~~person~~poultry business slaughters a total of 1,000 or fewer poultry of all species combined; ~~and~~¶¶

(b) The ~~person~~poultry business performing the slaughter raised the poultry since the poultry was two weeks of age or younger; ~~and~~¶¶

(c) The poultry are free from disease; ~~and~~¶¶

(d) The poultry products are for use as human food; ~~and~~¶¶

(e) The ~~person~~poultry business maintains sanitary records in accordance with OAR 603-028-0740; ~~and~~¶¶

(f) The ~~person~~poultry business slaughters the poultry at ~~the person's slaughter facility~~an establishment meeting the sanitary requirements of OAR 603-028-0735 and does not allow other persons to use the ~~slaughter facility~~establishment for any other purpose; ~~and~~¶¶

(g) The poultry products are sold exclusively via on-farm sale.¶¶

(2) Poultry products may not be adulterated or misbranded in accordance with ORS 616.205 to 616.385.¶¶

(3) A ~~person~~poultry business claiming this exemption may not engage in buying or selling poultry products other than those produced from poultry raised ~~on his or her own farm~~.¶¶

~~(a) Poultry must be sold as a whole carcass; and~~at the poultry business.¶¶

~~(b) Shell eggs will~~and poultry products must be labeled with the open date in accordance with ORS 616.800 to 616.835 ~~(Open-Date Labeling)~~.¶¶

~~(4) Poultry and poultry products may not enter into interstate commerce and will~~must be labeled with legible typed lettering a minimum of 0.25 inches in height "THIS PRODUCT MAY NOT LEAVE THE STATE OF OREGON".¶¶

~~(5) The licensing exemptions contained in this section apply only to activities directly related to poultry and poultry products.~~¶6) Activities relating to other than poultry or poultry products remain subject to licensing by the Department.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.020, 561.190, 616.835, 619.046

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 561.020, ~~603.085, 16.835, ORS 616.0835~~, 619.046

ADOPT: 603-028-0732

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates On-Farm Direct Sale Rabbit Exemption

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0732

On-Farm Direct Sale Rabbit Exemption

(1) A rabbit business engaged in on-farm direct sale is not required to obtain a license under ORS 603.025, 616.706, and OAR 603-028-0100, for activities directly related to rabbit and rabbit products if:

(a) During a calendar year, the rabbit business slaughters a total of 1,000 or fewer rabbit;

(b) The rabbit business performing the slaughter raised the rabbit since the rabbit was two weeks of age or younger;

(c) The rabbit are free from disease;

(d) The rabbit products are for use as human food;

(e) The rabbit business maintains sanitary records in accordance with OAR 603-028-0740;

(f) The rabbit business slaughters the rabbit at an establishment meeting the sanitary requirements of OAR 603-028-0735 and does not allow other persons to use the establishment for any other purpose; and

(g) The rabbit products are sold exclusively via on-farm sale.

(2) Rabbit products may not be adulterated or misbranded in accordance with ORS 616.205 to 616.385.

(3) A rabbit business claiming this exemption may not engage in buying or selling rabbit products other than those produced from rabbit raised at the rabbit business.

(4) Rabbit products must be labeled with:

(a) An open date in accordance with ORS 616.800 to 616.835; and

(b) Legible typed lettering a minimum of 0.25 inches in height "PROCESSED UNDER THE OREGON RABBIT EXEMPTION".

(5) Activities relating to other than rabbit or rabbit products remain subject to licensing by the Department.
Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 603.038

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 561.020, 603.085, 616.835, 619.046

AMEND: 603-028-0735

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates Sanitation Standards

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0735

Sanitation Standards II

(1) ~~A person claiming the exemption of~~ rabbit or poultry business that meets the requirements in OAR 603-028-0730 or OAR 603-028-0730-w2 shall be exempt from the requirements of ORS 619.026 and OAR 603-028-0100 if the ~~poultry~~ slaughter and processing are conducted on the ~~person's~~ rabbit or poultry business premises, under sanitary standards, practices, and procedures that produce rabbit or poultry products that are sound, clean, and fit for human food (not adulterated).¶

(2) The slaughter facility must be reasonably protected from potential contaminants such as dust, mud, pests, and all other adulterants. ~~The protection can be as minimal as~~ A slaughter facility may be reasonably protected by a combination of tarps, canopies and floor-mats.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.020, 561.190, 619.046

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 561.020, ~~603.085, 619.046~~ 19.046, ORS 603.085

AMEND: 603-028-0740

NOTICE FILED DATE: 03/21/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Updates Records and Enforcement requirements.

CHANGES TO RULE:

603-028-0740

Records and Enforcement ¶

(1) The ~~person~~rabbit or poultry business claiming a license exemption under OAR 603-028-0720 or 603-028-0730 ~~wi~~shall maintain clear and understandable records ~~at the poultry business that:~~¶

(a) Demonstrate the ~~person~~rabbit or poultry business raised the rabbit or poultry since ~~it~~the poultry was two weeks of age or younger;¶

(b) Calculate the year-to-date cumulative total of each species and total quantity of rabbit or poultry slaughtered;¶

(c) Contain the date of slaughter;¶

(d) Contain sales information including the:¶

(A) ~~Purchaser's name and address~~Location of sale;¶

(B) Species and quantity of ~~poultry~~sold;¶

(C) Date of the ~~poultry's~~slaughter and the date of sale; and¶

~~(D) Address of the poultry business~~slaughter; and¶

(D) Date of sale.¶

(e) Demonstrate adequate sanitation measures as required, to include:¶

(A) Daily establishment cleaning logs regarding ~~any and all slaughter dates;~~¶

~~(B) Ware washing or processing dates;~~¶

(B) Equipment cleaning logs;¶

(C) Lists of chemicals used in the sanitation of the ~~facility;~~establishment; and¶

(D) Other records as required ~~by the Department~~to demonstrate adequacy of sanitation measures taken to prevent adulteration.¶

(2) Records shall be maintained for two calendar years following the last dated activity recorded and shall be made available to the Department upon request within 5 business days.¶

(3) At the Department's discretion, the Department may conduct an unscheduled inspection of an ~~exempt poultry slaughtering facility and its records. If deemed necessary for food safety, the Department may take regulatory action, which may include mandatory licensing.~~¶

~~(4) A person claiming exemption from ORS 603.025 or 616.706 will not be an approved food source~~establishment and its records.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 561.190, 616.835, ~~(HB 2872 Enrolled)~~603.038

Statutes/Other Implemented: 603.038, ORS 603.085, ~~(HB 2872 Enrolled)~~